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1. Namsg of Property

historic name R Powerhouse The
other names/site number 01d Powerhouse, Building 756
2. Location _
straet & numbar  N.E. corner of S. Perimeter & (Cuuosta Ave, L__Inot for publication R
city.town ~~ San Luis Obispo L] vicnity -
state California code CA countySan luls Obispocode 079 zip code 923407
3. Claas:fication
Owrership of Property Category of Property Numar of Resources within Property
[ Jprivate building(s) Contributing Nciicontributing
[ ] public-local [ ldistrict 1 __0__nbuildings
Ei_; piblic-State [ Isite .0 0 sites
I public-Fedsral [ structure 0 0 structures
[Jobiect 0 __ 0 objects
e . 0 Total
Maime ot related multiple preperty listing: Numer of contributing resources previous'y
N/A listed in the Naticnal Register ____ G

4. Staic/Fedoral Agency Certification
f s the desigrated authority under the National Historic Preservatior Act of 1366, as amended, | hereby certify that thic

!
L.J nsminasion E..J request for determination b sligibility maets the documentation standards for registering properties in the

National Register of Historic Places and é the procedyra! and protaessionat raquirements set foriinr 36 CFR Part G0.
in. my opinion, tha property | X meets _]gées not «?@ Ndrioral Register criteria. [ see contifatlcn sheet.
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In my apinion, the preperty D meets Ddoes not meet the National Register criteria. DSoe continuation shest.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

Siate or Federa! agency and bureau

5. Nationa! Park Service Certification e
{, hereby, certify that thus property is:

Xentered in tha Nationa! Register.
! _|See continuation sheer. _@u_ﬂaﬂﬁﬁﬂ#ﬁé@_—_—__ - _.7.[39133_._____
Ddatmmmed_ fziigibie for the Hational
} Registar. |__! See continuation sheet. I
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National Pegistar. _ _

L_Jramoved from ithe National Register.
_‘J othex (explair:)

f{;': b;gna’ure of the Keepm Date of Acticn
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Ol LardyOLies frwn insloucuo

INDUSTRY: onergy facility AMER: storape. -
EDUCATION: school

7. Description
Architactural Classification Materials (entar categories from insiructions)

(enter categories from instructions)

foundation concrete —_—
Miscion/Spanish Colonial Revival — Wwahs _afucca

oot __ashalt .

othar __wGud :

Describe presaent anu historic physical appearance.

[[Asee continuation sheet
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.. . o w Slanificance

Eémrﬂng cificial has considered tha significance of this property !n relation 1o other properties:

T Inationaity (X statewide _ilocally
Applicable Naticnal Register Criteria X JA [ J8 [ ¢ [_p

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) C:]A DB [_-lC C]D DE aF Ma

Areas of Significance (enter categeries from instructions) Pannd of Significance Significant Dates
EDUCATION 1909-1943
INDUSTRY —_—
ENGINEERING
Cultural Adfiliation
N/A
Significant Perscn Architect/Builder
N/A Weeks, Willjam (architect)

_Mainc & Son (builder)

State significance ot property, and juslify criteria, criteria ccnsiderations, ane areas and periods of significance notsd above.

¥} See continuation shest
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L_|designated a Nationai Historic Landmark
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Verba! Boundary Description

Pleaseseeattached scale nap.

DSea continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

The bwmundaries encompass the histeric resource and

3o
i WR ]

inmediate setting.

(156 continuation sheet

11. Fcrm Prepared By

nameititle . Manty Haoyd, Krisri Cordova and Rob Strom
organization _Powerhouse Grougp daie _Dec. 14, 1992
strest & numbser __2546 Victoria St telgphone _(80S) S543-7725
. state __CA zip code 93401

city or town __San luis (hispa
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Powerhouvse Building
caiifornia Polytechnic State University
San Luis Obispo, CA

Description

The Powerhouse Building is a large, one-story, Mission/Spanish
Colonial style structure, designed by William H. Weeks, and
constructed in 1908-1909. It is situated in the oldest part of the
Cal Poly campuz, being one of the original buildinys. The building
sits at the corner of South Perimeter Road (the main road through
the campus) and South Cuesta Road. It originally had a T-shaped
floor plan with intersecting gable roofs. An early shed-roofed
addition {(c1215) made the floor plan L~shaped. The building is
broken up into three different functional sjpaces: the main
building, which contained the electrical geunestors and offices for
the plant operators; the boiler room, which hcousea the boiler
machinery; and the previously merntioned addition, which was used as
laboratory space for student instruction. It sits immediately
adjacent tc a small lawn space and a siwmilarly styled building
{c1930).

Construction of the building throughout is wood frame with
horizontal wood 1x sheathing, covered on the exterior by stucco,
colored and textured to resemble adobe. The gain building measures
rough:y 42x 60/, The walls of the main building are 14 feet tail,
framed with 2%x6 rough redwood and resting on a cocncrete stemwail
foundation (approximately 3 feet high). The roof is gable type, 4-
in~-12 pitch, framed with 2x8 rough redwood with ix sheathing, and
covered with asphalt compositicn shingles. In the middle of the
rocf 1s-a raised vent/skylight structure which rises 4 feet above
the surrounding roof. The boiler room measures roughly 207 x 407,
The walls of the boiler room are 16 feet tail, sciwilarly framed.
They rest on a slab-on-grade foundation. The roof is identical to
that of the main building, with a simil=ar skylight/vent. The shed-
roofed addition measures roughly 18’ x 35’ and iz of similar
construction. The roof pitch is 2-in-12. Exterior woodwork on the
building is minimal. There is a rough 2xi2 fascia all around. The
underside of the eaves (soffits) are finished with 1x8 Tongue &
CGroove siding, scored at 4 inches. Decorative crown mouliding
finishes the wall/eave intersection. All wocdwork is painted a
dark chocolate brown. There is no trim around the doors or
windows.
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PYowerhouse Building

Description (continued)

The main building is entered by climbing a short flight of concrete
stairs to a landing. A railing was added to these stairs in 1967
by architecture students. The doorway, which was originally flush
vith the exterior, has been recessed, and new doors buiit. This
was done sometime around 1970. The floor level is approximately 2
1/2 feet above dgrade. The original flcor was diagonal 1ix
sheathing, and was covered over in the 70’s with a hardboard
material similar to Masonite. The wall and roof framing is exposed
and painted white. The windows are rectanguliar 16 lite casements,
mounted 2 together and opening opposite. Above the entry and above
the center window on the north wall are arched windows. The
original arched windows, and the north wall center window were
replaced in 1974 with student built ste#ined glass windows.
Directly opposite the main entry is the entrance to the boiler
room.

The boiler room rests on a slab-on-grade foundation, 2 feet below
the finished floor level of the main room. The finished {loor of
the boile:r rocom is the concrete slab. The walls are finished with
2 cocating of stucco, probably as fire protection for the framing.
The bcile room has a framed ceiling, 16 fect high, also covered
with stucco. The ceiling is pierced by a skylight identical in
height and width to the skylight in the main room. Tre south wall
of the boiler room has a pair of large doors (4’x 8’ that open
cnte a fenced courtyard. To the left of the door is a window
similar tc¢ those of the main building. The east wall hazs two round
openings, 10 feet above the floor 1level, 16 feet apart, and
approximately 2 feet in diameter. These originally were the
openings rfor the boiler stacks. After the removal of the boilers
tney were converted to windows. In the middie of the east wali is
2 door that opens on to a small covered patic. A student-built
(c1970) pottery kiln occupies most of the patio. A dcuble door on
the north wall opens into the 1915 shed- rocfed addition.

The addition rests on a sliab-on-grade foundation. The type of
construction of the addition is similar to the 1rest of the
building. Originally there was no interior finish material, but a
Celotex-type material was added to the walls and ceiling after
1970. The finished floor is the concrete slab. Three windows,
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Powerhouse Building

Description (continued)

similar to those in the main building, occupy the north wall of
this room. Sometime after 1953 the middle window was converted to
a doorway. This room’s function was as laboratory space for
electrical engineering students. Eguipment that was nc longsr on
line in the main room of the power plant was set up ir here to
used in experiments. A concrete transformer vault was added to the
northeast corner of the building in 1923.

The most striking aspect ¢f the Powerhouse is the interior light
gquality. The combination of the large skylights and many windows
produces enough light fcr any of the activities that have taken
place in the building, from taking instrument rveadings and
maintaining machinery tc sketching and rendering artworks. another
important aspect is the flexibility of the large spaces ccntained
within the building. It is indeed a tribute to the design of the
building that it was able to maintain its usefulness long after it
ceased to function as a powerhouse

Statement of Significance

The history of the "0ld Power Plant" is more than iust the
narrative of an architecturally interesting utilitarian structure.
The Powerhouse is a 1living monument to the establishment and
success of California State Polytechnic University. As one of the
original, William H. Weeks designed buildings, and as it currently
stands,-the oldest remaining building on campus, its preservation
is critical if any vestige of the original school and Weers’ work
here is to remain. Its construction utilized student lwsoor, and
operation of the power piant and maintenance of the machinery were
primarily conducted by students, thus physically and tangibly
embodving Cal Poly’s philosophy - "learn by doing". The wmachinery
housed in the building was supplying electricityv to the campus in
1910, 16 years before *the county of San Luis Obispo hac rural
service, and ccntinued to supply power through the 1940’s at a
substantially lower cost than could be had from the local utility.
And, even after it was abandoned as a power house and was taken
over by the schoel of Architecture and Environmental design it
continued tc serve the university as design lab space, display
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Statement of Significance {continued)

galiery, and lecture hall until 1990, when the administration
ordered it toc be vacated.

California Polytechnic State Schoel was established in 1501.
In that same vear the state gave the school a smzll land grant
immediately adjacent to the City of San Luils Cbispo. In 13072,
William H. Weeks, a Watsonville architect well known for his scheol
and library buildings, was contracted as "Schocl Architect¥. He
was to oversee the design of the original buildings on campus, the
first being the Administration Building, and the last being the
Powerhouse. Cal Poly began instruction in September of 1903. Its
founder and principal guiding figure, Myron Angel, establisbed the
operating philosophy of the school. His vision was a school for
the vocational arts that would "teach the hand as well as the
head™. At the school, students would be expected to work in the
varicus operations of the school, (i.e. the dairy; the =animail
husbandry unit; the power plant), as well as atteni classes with
nore comnventicnal instruction. Out of this method of practical
instruction was born the school motto, "learn by dcing".

The schocl grew quickly, and expanded accordingly. 1995 saw
the appropriation of $6000 for the construction of a new power and
heat plant. 1In 1908, construction began on the Powerhouse.

Typical of the method cf instruction at the school, students
in the carpentry classes were utilized in the construction ct the
building. Maino and Son Construction (still in business in San
Luis Obispo) oversaw the work, and in 1910 the Powerhouse was
completed and "put under steam”. The plant had two full time
operators who supervised students employedé in the operation and
raintenance of the equipment. The students were paid for theil
work, and thus were ablie to subsidize the cost cf their schocliing,
in addition to learning power plant operation. Ciasses in
Mechanical and Electrical Engineering were held in the Powerhouse,
and students were provided the opportunity to work with the
machinery and %t¢ see the abstract concepts of Mechanics and
Electricity employed irn practice.

The original equipment of the Powerhouse consisted of one
100hp boiler, one 50hp steam engine, and one 30kW DC generator.
The machinery was constantly being expanded and upgraded to match,
and scmetimes facilitate, the growth of the school. One
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Statemznt of Significance (continued)

rarticuleriy significant piece of machinery that was addsd was a
50hp Tnternational Harvester natural gas engine. This motor was on
displuy a2t the 1915 Panama-Pacific Exposition in San Francisco, and
was purcnased directly from the exposition. At that time it wac
the only engine of its kind on the west coast.

The Powerhouse was in continuous operation as an electrical
power arnd steam heating plant from 1910 to 1940. At this point it
was becoming obvious that the scheocols power and heating
regquirements were outgrowing the Powerhouse’s abilities. At some
pcint after 1940 it stopped generating electricity (although in
1947 <the electrical equipment was put back on 1lire and was
generating about 10% of the schools needs).: The 1940 Annuai
Report to the State spelled cut the need for an appropriation to
replace the Powerhouse with a new, centrally located structure.
Subseguent annual reports continued to seek funding for a new
plant, and in 1950 the state approved money for a new power plant.
That nawme is somewhat of a misnomer, in that the new plart would
produce steam (for heat only), and would contain transformers,
2lectrical switching equipment and backup generators, but would
vroduce no actual power. With the completion of the new power
piant in 1955, the old Powerhouse was abandoned. The new power
plant empioyed a full-time, non-student staff. Mechanical and
Electrsical Engineering classes were moved to laboratories elsewhere
on campus. It seemed the days of student participation in the
cperation of the school were waning.

In 1967, George Hasslein, the Dear. of Architecture at Cal
“0ly, asked the school for the use of the old Powerhouse. The
School of Architecture and Environmental Design (SAED) was a recent
additicn to the University, and George Hasslein was to the SAED
what Mvrcn Angel was to Cal Poly. The Dean, and by extension the
CAED, cembodied much of the o©ld polytechnic school’s attitude of
self-reiiance and student self-directedness. The old #owerhouse,
with its generous expanse of space and its marvelous quality of
light, was seen by the Dean as an excellent place for student
energy to be directed and focused, first through cleanup and
rehakilitation of the building, and later through enccuraging
student projects dealing with c¢i- centered around the puilding, anfl
ny teaching some of the more experimental, avant-garde classes in
the old Powerhouse. The old beciler room was converted to a wood
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Statement of Significance (continued)

and metal shop, for use by SAED students. Faculty meetings,
special events, and Distinguished Speaker lectures (R. Buckminster
Fuller spoke there in 1968) were held in the main room. As the
SAED grew and expanded, the building continued to serve the SAED in
& variety of functions. Iven after a new, multi-million dcllar
Architecture Building was constructed, the Powerhouse continued to
be the most sought after design lab space by Architecture students.
t“hen the University Administration ordered it abandoned in 1990,
the SAED lost, in the eyes of the students and most of the faculty,
its most prized pcssession.

The Powerhouse is currently slated for demolition and a
7cotprint for a new building is shcwn on the current Master Plan.
tiowever, with the current budget situation no monies exist for
nither tlhe demolition or the new building. The Powerhcuse is
currently being used for storage. Numerous leaks have appeared in
vhe roof, and are contributing to the degradation of the building.

From its construction utilizing student 1labor, to its
significance in terms of its architect, to its service as the power
#nd heat source of the campus, to its use as a mecharical
sngineering lab, and finally to its use by the School of
:.rchitecture and Environmental Design, the Powerhouse’s ability to
cccept growth and change reflected the growthk of the school and its
transition from a trade school to the respected polytechrnic
university of today. Cal Poly hes grown in such a way as to
obliterate it’s past. Perhaps *this is to erase its hunmble
freginnings as a vocaticnal high school. All of the coriginal
huildings by William Weeks have been destroyed, with the excertion
of the Powerhouse. And while the Powerhouse is the least grand of
~hese original buildings, what better landmark could be established
-har this humble, utilitarian structure, for it perfectly embodies
“he pragmatic nature of Cal Poly.

fhe period of significance ends in 1955when the power plant ceased to function.
However. since no exceptional significance is in evidence, the period has ar-
bitrzraly been ended at 1943, fifty vears ago.
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Statement of significance (continued)

IMPORTANT DATES

1201 State Legislature establishes Schocl founding act

1903 Cal Poly begins instruction as a state vocatinnal
high school ‘

1208 Legislature appropriates allotment of $6,000 fox the
razing of the old power piant and the erection of a
new one

18Ce Construction of Powerhouse begins (Maino Constr.}

1909 Legislature approves $10,000 for " a rew power and
lighting plant"® '

123190 Powerhouse "put under steam” on September 10. 0id
equipment moved into powerhouse that summer. Oid
boiler deemed insufficient for needs. Original
eguipment was one 100hp boiler ( the old boiler from
the previous powerhouse was moved but never used),
one 50hp steam engine, and one 30kW DC generator.

1911 Power generation changes from DC to ACT. 75Shp Ball
engine, 50kW AC generator, and 30kW AC generator
added.

13313 4dditional 100hp boiler added

181¢ 50hp International Harvester natural gas angine

installed. This motor was on displiay at the Pan-
Pacific Exposition of 1915, and at that time was the
only one of it’s kind in the west.
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Statement of Significance (continued)

Campus completely rewired. Previous wiring was 10
vears old, done poorly, cor done con a "temporary®
basis as the campus grew. Shops were wired for
lights - daylight was previously the only source of
light in the shops. Improvement in light quality of
drafting rooms and library. Fire-proof concrete
transformer vault added to powerhouse (safety req.)

1

it
I

Boilers deemed unsafe by state engineer. $5,360
appropriation from state for complete overhaul and
repair of boilers.

]
N

$.0,000 (of $137,975 state appropriation) earmarked
for gas or diesel engine, $25,000 for "addition &
equipnent to mechanical unj“" New Engineering
bldg. will be started this year. It is to be
situated "“on the northeast corner of the preseni
power plant® (This is part of what is currentlv
called the Air Conditioning bldg. )

hod
O
N
~J

Cal Poly raises it’s level of instruction to that of
a2 junior college, since most state high schools
offered industrial and vocational training.

2
i3
N
3

)
\O
)
[o)]

Installation of new 120hr diesel motor

1

Cal Poly becomes a two-year technical college

'd
\O
(W8]
Lo

s
O
LD
(o))

Other colleges begin accepting Cal Poly Degree
transfer students. Third vear of instruction added.
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Statement of Significance (continued)
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Annual reports document money saved by generating
own power, as opposed tc purchasing from outside.
At this point it is becoming obvious that the power
needs cf the campus with the projected post-war
enrolliment surge wiil be greater than can
feasibly be generated on campus.

At some point in this span of years the Powerhouss
stops generating power, but continues to generate
steam. ' ‘

Cal Poly authorized by State Board of Education to
grant Bachelor of Science degrees. Fourth year of
instruction added. <Cal Poly‘s Annual Report to the
State specifically points out the shortcomings and
safety hazards cof Powerhousa. KRecommendation for
new, centraily located structure housing utilities
and fire-fighting equipment.

annual Report again pecints out need for new power
plant. .

annual Report cites the "antiguated central heating
and utility distribution center™ as "the most
sericus liimiting factor in the development of the
Cal Poly campus". Powerhouse electricity generating
equipnent put back on line after Yan idle period of
saveral vyears". At -this point it was producing
about 10% of the campus’ requirements.

Overhauled diesel engine instalied in Powerhouse
Construction begins or new power plant.

Gl1d Powerhouse abandoned after completion of new
plant.

0ld Powerhouse machinery taken out and sold.
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Statement of Significance (continued)

1967 Powzrhouse given to Architecture Department for use
as 1lab space. Architecture students and faculty
¢lean out building, remove old boilers, put in new
flooring, skylights.

1967~ Revanped building serves a multitude of functions
1890 for the recently established School of Architecture
and Environmental Design: drawing classes; Form and
Materials classroom; design lab; support shop with
wocd- and metal-working egquipment; pottery studio,
complete with Xiln; cafe; art gallery; lecture hall
for such distinguished speakers as R. Buckminster
Fuller; and as a faculty meeting room. The building
is appreciated by students and faculty alike for its
light gquality, the spacious feel of it’s interior,
and it’s feeling of flexibility and adaptability.

ol
o
()

SAE!* made to abandon Powerhouse by administration.
Reason cited is seismic instability. Building is
left to rot by campus administration. Slated for
demolition, but with no specific date. Footprint
for new building on Powerhouse site exists in
current campus master plan.

Bibiiograghy

Perscnal Interviews

All interviews conducted by the Powerhouse Group {Monty Boyd,
Kristi Cordovea, Rob Strom) and transcripts are located at:
546 Victoria St. San Luis Obispo, Cz 93401.

Sept. 25 1992 Mark Hall-Patton, Curator, San Luis Obispo
Ccunty Histcrical Museum.

Oct. 5 1992 Rex Wolf, Facilities Manager, Plant Operations,
‘ Cal Poly State University, San Luis Obispo.
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Biblioqrdphyn(continued)

Cct. & 1392

Oct. 7 19922

oct. 10 1992

Cot. 22 1992

Oct. 3C 1992

Books

van Krieger, Professor of History, Cal Poly
State University, Sa» Luis Cbispo.

Robart Kennedy, Retired Cal Poly President
1952-1987

Arthur Young, Retired supervisor, New Stean
Plant, Cal Poly.

George Hassiein, Professor of Architecture and
former Dean of Architecture, Cal Poly State
University, San Luis Obispo.

Gary Dwyer, Professor of Landscape
rchitecture, Cal Pcly State University,
San Luis Obispo.

Swmith, Morris Eugené. 2 Histotonf falifornia State
Peclytechnic College, the First Fifty Years, 1901-1¢51.
Thesis Cal Poly State University, 1968.

©

Articl

]

The articles used came from past Cal Poly schocl papers

all of which

are Jocated on microfilm in the Cal Poly

University Archives.

El Polygram 1923-1926
The Polygram 1927
El Mustang 1953-1966
Summer Mustang 1967

Mustang Daily 1968-1981
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Annual Reports

Cal Pcly State University, Annual Repcrts to The State Board
of Trustees, 1%910-1951. Cal Pcly University Archives.
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A11 photos takes March 1993, Photographers: The Powertouse Group
Locerion of negative: 25466 Victoria St.
San Luis Obispo, CA 93407

Views: 1., West elevation
2. Overview from northwest
3. South elevation
4. Overview from north
5. Partial east elevat:zon



